IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA  
CAUSE NO. DA 23-0328

---

STATE OF MONTANA,  
Plaintiff and Appellee,  
and  
DAVID ALLEN PEIN,  
Defendant and Appellant.

---

**Appellant/Defendant's Opening Brief**

---

On Appeal from the District Court of the Tenth Judicial District  
of the State of Montana, In and For Fergus County

Before the Honorable Kathy Seeley  
Cause No. DC-14-2016-0000066-IN

RUFUS I. PEACE  
Peace Law Group, LLC  
7643 Gate Parkway  
Suite 104-1267  
Jacksonville, FL 32256  
Telephone (904) 253-3492  
[rufus@integrityfirstlaw.com](mailto:rufus@integrityfirstlaw.com)

AUSTIN KNUDSON  
Montana Attorney General  
C. MARK FOWLER

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to proceed with trial on two counts within the Appellant's case when a notice of appeal had been filed addressing the conviction and sentencing of the Appellant for one count within the same cause of action.
- II. A deferred prosecution agreement is void and unlawful when it is entered into as a condition of a plea agreement, within the same case, and the condition within the plea agreement is unsupported by and in violation of statutory authority authorizing plea agreements and deferred prosecution agreements.
- III. The Appellant was twice put in jeopardy when he had previously been convicted for charges which were part of the same transaction and known to the prosecutor at the time of his previous conviction, a conviction which had not been set aside, reversed or vacated.
- IV. Appellant's sentence is illegal where it was based on the incorrect statute, because marijuana is not a schedule I dangerous drug, and a separate statute governs sentencing for distribution of all other schedules of dangerous drugs.
- V. Montana Code Annotated § 45-9-206's forfeiture requirement is facially unconstitutional and violates Montana's protections against excessive

finer because it removes the sentencing judge's ability to consider the required proportionality factors which protect defendants from excessive fines.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case has a long and twisted history, it began in 2016 following an investigation into Appellant David Allen Pein ("Pein") for marijuana distribution, an enterprise he was running from his house. To confirm their suspicions, officers sent a confidential informant to complete three purchases of marijuana from Pein. The officers used this to gain a search warrant for Pein's house, during which additional marijuana and cash was found, including cash used by the confidential informant to purchase the marijuana.

After the search, Pein was charged with nine counts, all felonies, two of which were forfeiture charges, including forfeiture of Pein's home. The parties negotiated an unusual resolution to the case; the State and Pein agreed to enter into a plea agreement, whereby Pein would plead guilty to Count VI, a possession of dangerous drugs with the intent to distribute charge. As a condition of the plea agreement, Pein would also be subject to a 10-year deferred prosecution agreement for Counts IV and VIII, Count IV being a distribution of dangerous drugs charge, and Count VIII being a possession of property subject to forfeiture charge, related to Pein's home. The remaining counts were dismissed.

In line with the plea agreement, on July 6, 2017, Pein entered a guilty plea to Count VI, and was later sentenced to a 5-year deferred imposition of sentence. Pein appealed a condition of his sentence to this Court, who affirmed the sentence as imposed.

On June 10, 2020, the State filed its first petition to revoke Pein's deferred sentence and reinstated the prosecution of Pein for Counts IV and VIII. While this was ongoing, Pein petitioned to have his conviction for Count VI expunged based on the Montana Marijuana Regulation and Taxation Act; his petition was denied by the district court, again appealed to this Court, and this Court again affirmed the lower court.

On March 14, 2023, following an adjudicatory hearing, the district court revoked Pein's deferred sentence. He was later sentenced under the 2016 statute to four years in the Montana Department of Corrections.

Pein then initiated the present appeal.

On February 9, 2024, following a four day jury trial, Pein was convicted on Counts IV and VIII. On April 30, 2024, Pein was sentenced to seven years in the Montana Department of Corrections, with the counts running concurrently to each other. The sentencing court also ordered Pein's house be forfeited, but stayed the forfeiture pending this appeal.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Pein argues that the district court lost jurisdiction when he initiated this appeal following his conviction for Count VI, and his convictions for Counts IV and VIII should be vacated for lack of jurisdiction.

Further, the deferred prosecution agreement was contrary to statutory requirements and therefore void at the time it was entered into, and the prosecution against Pien could not be reinitiated.

Pein also argues he was twice put into jeopardy when he was tried for Counts IV and VIII when his prior conviction for Count VI was not set aside, revoked or otherwise invalid.

Additionally, Pein argues his sentence was illegal because marijuana is not a schedule I dangerous drug and the incorrect sentencing statute was applied in his case.

Finally, Pein alleges Montana's automatic forfeiture requirement is facially unconstitutional because it is a mandatory fine which does not allow the sentencing judge to weigh the proportionality factors as required to protect defendants from excessive fines.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Beginning in early 2016, Lewistown Police Department began investigating Pein for the suspected distribution of marijuana. As part of that investigation, the police enlisted a Confidential Informant (CI), later identified as Wendy Lunceford,

to conduct undercover buys on August 26, 2016<sup>1</sup>, September 2, 2016, and September 24, 2016. See Doc. 2, Motion and Affidavit in Support for Leave to File Information, and Transcript of Proceedings, February 8, 2024, Third Day of Jury Trial (Tr. JT Day 3), 79:13-80:9.

On August 26, 2016, the CI purchased 10.23 grams<sup>2</sup> (0.36 ounces) of marijuana with cash provided by the police with recorded serial numbers. Tr. JT Day 3, 187:6-18.

On September 2, 2016, the CI purchased another 10.33 grams (0.36 ounces) of marijuana with cash provided by the police with recorded serial numbers. *Id.*

On September 24, 2016, the CI purchased 17.79 grams (0.62 ounces) of marijuana with cash provided by the police with recorded serial numbers. *Id.*

In total, the CI purchased 38.35 grams (1.35 ounces) from Pein during the undercover portion of the police investigation.

On September 29, 2024, the police executed a search warrant upon Pein's residence. Doc. 2, ¶ 7. During the search, the officers found and seized numerous electronic devices, along with numerous glass bongs, other paraphernalia, marijuana seeds, scales, weapons, \$3,500 in cash, and 439 grams (15.48 ounces). *Ibid.* The

---

<sup>1</sup> The Motion and Affidavit in Support identifies the transaction date as August 26, 2016, testimony at trial indicated the date was August 24, 2016 (Tr. JT Day 3, 56:17-57:5); the date does not impact the analysis in this Appeal.

<sup>2</sup> The weights identified are based upon testimony from the Montana State Crime Lab and differ from the initially reported weights from law enforcement due to the Crime Lab removing the weight of any packaging.

officers also noted that various vehicles were at the residence: a 2001 Pontiac Firebird, 1985 Nissan 300; and a 1998 Ford Ranger. *Ibid.*

The officers compared the bills comprising \$3,500 in cash to the previously recorded serial numbers used by the CI and located nine twenty dollar bills that matched those given to the CI. *Id.*, ¶ 8.

On October 18, 2016, Pein was charged by information with:

**Count I:** Criminal Distribution of Dangerous Drugs on/near School Property, by accountability, generally alleging on August 26, 2016, Pein sold dangerous drugs within 1,000 feet of an elementary school.

**Count II:** Criminal Distribution of Dangerous Drugs on/near School Property, generally alleging on September 2, 2016, Pein sold dangerous drugs within 1,000 feet of an elementary school.

**Count III:** Criminal Distribution of Dangerous Drugs on/near School Property, generally alleging on September 23, 2016, Pein sold dangerous drugs within 1,000 feet of an elementary school.

**OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE TO COUNT III:**

**Count IV:** Criminal Distribution of Dangerous Drugs, generally alleging on September 23, 2016<sup>3</sup>, Pein purposely or knowingly sold marijuana.

**Count V:** Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs, generally alleging on September 29, 2016, Pein possessed marijuana, at the time being illegal.

**Count VI:** Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs with Intent to Distribute, generally alleging on September 29, 2016, Pein possessed marijuana with the intent to distribute it.

---

<sup>3</sup> This date was corrected by Amended Information to reflect August 24, 2016. See Doc. 255.

**Count VII:** Criminal Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, generally alleging that on September 29, 2016, Pein possessed with the intent to use drug paraphernalia.

**Count VIII:** Use or Possession of Property Subject to Criminal Forfeiture, generally alleging that Pein used his residence in the distribution of marijuana, and the residence was subject to forfeiture.

**Count IX:** Use or Possession of Property Subject to Criminal Forfeiture, generally alleging the previously identified vehicles, electronics and paraphernalia were used by Pein to distribute marijuana and all were subject to forfeiture.

Doc. 4, Information.

On June 29, 2017, after several motions and other proceedings not at issue in this Appeal, Pein and the State entered into both a Pre-Trial Diversion Agreement and a Plea Agreement.

**A. Pre-Trial Diversion Agreement**

As part of the Pre-Trial Diversion Agreement, the parties agreed that the State would defer prosecution for Count IV: Criminal Distribution of Dangerous Drugs, and Count VIII: Use or Possession of Property Subject to Forfeiture (Pein's residence). Doc. 36, ¶ 2. The State agreed to defer prosecution for a period of 10 years for these two counts. *Id.*, ¶ 3. In return Pein was required to:

- a) Obey all laws, rules and regulations of the federal, state, and local governments and conduct himself as a good citizen;
- b) Abide by conditions of the Plea Agreement in this case;

- c) Voluntarily agree to forfeit all property identified in Count IX, including:
  - i. 2001 Pontiac Firebird; 1985 Nissan 300; 1998 Ford Ranger; and
  - ii. All money seized or obtained through a search warrant or other legal process.
- d) Sign admissions to both counts.

The agreement further provided that “This matter shall be dismissed with prejudice upon Defendant’s full compliance with the above terms and conditions and after the period of deferral has expired.” *Id.*, ¶ 5.

Finally, Pein agreed to a full waiver of speedy trial and that the State could commence prosecution upon a showing of probable cause that Pein had violated any of the terms or conditions of the agreement. *Id.*, ¶¶ 6-7.

### **B. Plea Agreement and Acknowledgement of Rights**

Separately, Pein and the State entered into a Plea Agreement and Acknowledgement of Rights (Doc. 37) whereby:

1. Pein acknowledged and waived all standard trial rights. *Id.*, ¶¶ 3-27.
2. Acknowledged that he had been properly advised of his rights, and that no promises outside the plea agreement and pre-trial diversion agreement had been made to him. *Id.*, ¶ 28.
3. The Plea Agreement cross-referenced the Pre-Trial Diversion Agreement, noting Counts IV and VIII were addressed through the Pre-Trial Diversion Agreement. *Id.*, PRETRIAL AGREEMENT, 1(A).

4. Pein agreed to enter a plea of guilty to Count VI: Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs with Intent to Distribute. *Id.*, PRETRIAL AGREEMENT, 1(B).
5. In return for Pein entering a guilty plea to Count VI, the State agreed to:
  - a. Dismiss Counts I-III, Count V, Count VII, and Count IX at sentencing.
  - b. Recommend, jointly with Pein, that Pein receive a 5-year deferred sentence.

### **C. 2017 Change of Plea Hearing**

On July 6, 2017, Pein entered his guilty plea to Count VI, Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs with the Intent to Distribute. Doc. 38, Minute Entry.

Following an advisement of rights and initial inquiry by the court, the court allowed Pein to enter a guilty plea to Count VI. Transcript of Change of Plea, July 6, 2017 (Tr. COP), 2:4-6:21. Pein was then sworn in and defense counsel was asked to provide a factual foundation for the plea. Tr. COP 6:22-7:13.

Specifically, defense counsel (Mr. Larsen) asked and Pein responded as follows:

MR. LARSEN: The charge here alleges that on or about September of 2016 you possessed the drug of marijuana. Is that correct?

MR. PEIN: Correct.

MR. LARSEN: You're aware of that charge?

MR. PEIN: I'm aware.

MR. LARSEN: Now in the past ... earlier in the year in 2016 you were a registered card holder with the Medical Marijuana Act correct?

MR. PEIN: Correct.

MR. LARSEN: And throughout various years in the past you've been a possessor of such a card and a user of medical marijuana?

MR. PEIN: Yes.

MR. LARSEN: Okay. Now during that time, you had accrued an amount of marijuana in excess of the legal limits, correct?

MR. PEIN: Correct.

MR. LARSEN: So, you ... at the time that the search warrant was served on your home you'd accrued an amount greater than 60 grams correct?

MR. PEIN: Yes.

MR. LARSEN: Okay. Now in addition to that you had stored this marijuana at your home here in Lewistown correct?

MR. PEIN: Correct. MR. LARSEN: In Fergus County Montana?

MR. PEIN: Yes.

MR. LARSEN: Okay. And of that marijuana that you possessed at your house you had intent regarding at least a portion of it to either sell, give or otherwise distribute to a third person correct?

MR. PEIN: Correct.

MR. LARSEN: You seem in question of that. The charge here is criminal possession of a dangerous drug with the intent to distribute it. So, question would simply be did you have the intent to either share, give or sell that drug to a third party or did you not?

MR. PEIN: Yes.

MR. LARSEN: Okay. So, you did have the intent ...

MR. PEIN: Not really, I didn't want to, no.

MR. LARSEN: ... to give it to a third party.

MR. PEIN: No.

MR. LARSEN: It's a yes or no.

MR. PEIN: Yes.

MR. LARSEN: Yes, okay. You did have the intent then. All right. So those two elements possessing marijuana in excess of 60 grams with an intent to either give, sell or otherwise distribute to another party is what leads you to plead guilty here today correct?

MR. PEIN: Correct.

MR. LARSEN: Okay. Again, I want to be sure that those are the facts that lead you to plead guilty here today.

MR. PEIN: Yes.

Tr. COP, 7:14-9:21

In response to follow up questions from the State, Pein admitted and agreed the total weight of the marijuana seized on September 29, 2016 was 439 grams (15.49 ounces). Tr. COP, 11:13-16.

Thereafter, the court accepted Pein's guilty plea and ordered a Presentence Investigation Report be completed. Tr. COP, 13:16-14:2.

#### **D. First Sentencing Hearing and Judgment**

On March 12, 2018, Pein was sentenced as it relates to Count VI. See Transcript of Sentencing Hearing, March 22, 2018 (Tr. 1st Sent.).

Following testimony, the State and Pein followed the plea agreement, with both jointly recommending a 5-year deferred imposition of sentence, which the court adopted as its sentence, along with all standard conditions in the presentence investigation report. Tr. 1st Sent. 43:22-47:22.

On April 3, 2018, the court issued its Sentencing Order and Judgment, which was appealed on May 31, 2018. Doc. 52 & 59.

### **E. First Appeal**

On May 31, 2018, Pein filed his first appeal from the lower court's decisions related to the underlying charges in DA 18-0304. In his first appeal, Pein challenged the constitutionality of the lower court's denial of his use of medical marijuana to treat his medical conditions.

Following briefing, this Court issued its non-cite opinion at 2019 MT 167N, affirming the lower court's prohibition against Pein's medical use of marijuana and finding the restriction had the necessary nexus to the underlying offense, and was legal and reasonable. *State v. Pien*, 2019 MT 167N, ¶ 18, 397 Mont. 551, 455 P.3d 440.

### **F. Revocation of Deferred Sentence and Termination of Pre-Trial Agreement.**

On June 10, 2020, the State filed its first Petition for Revocation, asking the court to revoke Pein's 5-year deferred imposition of sentence, as it relates to Count VI. See Doc. 70.

Within its Report of Violation, Probation and Parole alleged:

Count I: On April 29, 2020, Pein was charged with Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs and Criminal Possession of Drug Paraphernalia.

Count II: On April 29, 2020, Pein admitted to using Methamphetamine and Marijuana, and his urine sample confirmed this use.

Count III: On April 29, 2020, during a search of Pein's home marijuana and associated paraphernalia were discovered.

Doc. 70, attached Report of Violation.

On June 10, 2020, along with its Petition to Revoke Deferred Sentence, the State filed its Motion to Set Scheduling Conference, alleging Pein had violated the Pre-Trial Agreement and declaring the State intended to proceed with prosecution on Counts IV and VIII. Doc. 71.

On January 19, 2021, the State filed its Second Petition for Revocation of Deferred Imposition of Sentence. Doc. 109. Within its Second Petition, the State added the following two allegations:

Count I: On December 26, 2020, Pein was charged with two felonies and five misdemeanors, including Assault on a Peace Officer, two counts, and Owner Permitting Operation of a Vehicle Without Liability Insurance, Disobedience to Direction of Safety/Peace Officer, Obstructing a Peace officer or Other Public Servant, Criminal Mischief, and Resisting Arrest.<sup>4</sup>

Count II; On December 29, 2020, Pein provided a urine sample that was positive for THC.

---

<sup>4</sup> These charges and their associated conviction are being appealed in DA 23-406, which has not been briefed at the time of this writing.

Doc. 109, attached Addendum to Report of Violation.

### **G. Proceedings Generally**

After the State's Petition for Revocation and notice of its intent to proceed with prosecution of Counts IV and VIII, a host of motions, substitutions of counsel and continuances occurred, along with the case being sent to mediation. See Docket, generally.

During the pendency of proceedings, Pein was appointed multiple counsels, one of which admitted to failing to conduct any pre-hearing investigation or have spoken with Pein regarding the allegations, leading the court to find assigned counsel ineffective and order appointment of new counsel. See Doc. 152, Order Following July 14, 2022, Adjudicatory Hearing.

### **H. Second Appellate Proceedings**

On April 20, 2022, Pein petitioned the district court, DV-22-39, to expunge his conviction for Count VI, and appealed that court's denial of expungement to this Court in DA 22-0314. *Pein v. State*, 2023 MT 38N, 441 Mont. 392, 525 P.3d 25. Following the passage of Montana Marijuana Regulation and Taxation Act, certain previous convictions for marijuana related convictions. Mont. Code Ann. § 16-12-113.

On February 28, 2023, this Court issued its Opinion in *Pein v. State*, wherein it determined Pein was not eligible for expungement or other relief because he

possessed more than two ounces of marijuana, as the amount of marijuana at issue in Count VI was fifteen ounces. ¶ 5.

### **I. Adjudication of Deferred Sentence and Resentencing**

On March 14, 2023, the court held an adjudicatory hearing on the State's petitions to revoke Pein's deferred sentence for Count VI. See Doc. 177.

The court determined that the allegations contained in the State's first and second petitions to revoke were proven, and ordered a new presentence investigation report be completed prior to deposition. Doc. 177, ¶¶ 1-2.

On April 18, 2023, the court held a resentencing hearing, where it applied the statute governing criminal possession with intent to distribute in 2016. Transcript of Resentencing, April 18, 2023 (Tr. Resent.), 2:15-3:1. The statute in 2016 read:

#### **45-9-103 Criminal possession with intent to distribute.**

(1) Except as provided in Title 50, chapter 46, a person commits the offense of criminal possession with intent to distribute if the person possesses with intent to distribute any dangerous drug as defined in 50-32-101.

(2) A person convicted of criminal possession of an opiate, as defined in 50-32-101, with intent to distribute shall be imprisoned in the state prison for a term of not less than 2 years or more than 20 years and may be fined not more than \$ 50,000, except as provided in 46-18-222.

(3) A person convicted of criminal possession with intent to distribute not otherwise provided for in subsection (2) shall be imprisoned in the state prison for a term of not more than 20 years or be fined an amount not to exceed \$ 50,000, or both.

(4) Practitioners, as defined in 50-32-101, and agents under their supervision acting in the course of a professional practice are exempt from this section.

Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-103 (2015).

Following testimony and argument, the court resentenced Pein for Count VI to four years Department of Corrections, none suspended, with credit for 257 days time served and 60 days street time. Tr. Resent., 62:16-63:1.

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