05/28/2025

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0328

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0328

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

DAVID ALLEN PEIN,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Tenth Judicial District Court, Fergus County, The Honorable Heather Perry, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General ROY BROWN Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 roy.brown2@mt.gov

KENT SIPE Fergus County Attorney DIANE COCHRAN JEAN ADAMS Deputy County Attorneys 801 West Broadway Lewistown, MT 59457

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

This Court reviews a criminal sentence for legality. *State v. Villabos*, 2024 MT 301, ¶ 7, 419 Mont. 256, 560 P.3d 617.

A claim that a criminal sentence violates a constitutional provision is reviewed de novo. *State v. Gibbons*, 2024 MT 63, ¶ 20, 416 Mont. 1, 545 P.3d 686.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court had jurisdiction to conduct a trial and sentencing on Counts IV and VIII.

Pein's revocation and resentencing on Count VI," which Pein argues "divested [the district court] of jurisdiction [for Counts IV and VIII] to proceed further until the appeal was served or stayed." (Appellant's Br. at 25-26.) Pein's argument fails to inform this Court of his "Amended Notice of Appeal" appealing his final judgment for Counts IV and VIII around one year later, on June 11, 2024. (App. 7.)

A criminal defendant may only appeal "from a final judgment of conviction and orders after judgment which affect the substantial rights of the defendant." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-104(1). A final judgment is a judgment that "conclusively determines the rights of the parties and settles all claims in controversy in an action or proceeding[.]" M. R. App. P. 4(1)(a). The appellant must "designate the final judgment or order or part thereof from which the appeal is taken." M. R. App. P. 4(4)(a). This Court will "not consider an appeal from an order not designated in the notice of appeal." *State v. Spotted Blanket*, 1998 MT

59, ¶ 12, 288 Mont. 126, 955 P.2d 1347 (citation omitted). It is well established that an "appeal to this Court divests the district court of jurisdiction *over the order or judgment from which the appeal is taken.*" *Kruckenberg v. City of Kalispell*, 2004 MT 185, ¶ 10, 322 Mont. 177, 94 P.3d 748 (citation omitted, emphasis added). Indeed, "once a valid sentence has been pronounced, the court imposing the same is lacking jurisdiction to vacate or modify the sentence, except as provided by statute" *Zeilie*, ¶ 19 (citation omitted).

Here, while Pein may be able to establish that his June 13, 2023 appeal of the final order upon resentencing pertaining to Count VI entered on April 24, 2023 divested the district court from continuing to issue orders relating to Count VI, *see Kruckenberg*, ¶ 10, that is a non-issue here because the district court never thereafter issued any subsequent orders on Count VI. In any event, Pein challenges Counts IV and VIII in this appeal, not Count VI. Thus, any claim that the district court lacked jurisdiction to conduct trial and sentencing on bifurcated Counts IV and VIII while Count VI was on appeal is meritless, particularly because there was no final appealable order at issue divesting the district court of jurisdiction for Counts IV and VIII until May 1, 2024, when the final order on those counts was issued. Pein acknowledged as much by filing a subsequent "Amended Notice of Appeal" on June 13, 2024, challenging his final judgment for Counts IV and VIII

entered into on May 1, 2024. Accordingly, Pein's jurisdictional argument—which is only logically related to Count VI—should be rejected.

II. The district court correctly interpreted the DPA and plea agreement statutes.

Pein argues that a plea agreement cannot reference a DPA because a plea agreement "leads to a full resolution of the case." Pein argues any reference to the DPA in the plea agreement is an "illegal term and must be voided[.]" (Appellant's Br. at 31-32.) Pein further claims that the DPA he entered into was "fundamentally unfair[]" because "a defendant theoretically exposes themselves to an extended period of incarceration or supervision." (*Id.* at 32.) Pein poses a hypothetical situation that the State could wait until a DPA almost expires before pursuing resumption of conviction on the charges. (*Id.* at 32-33.)⁵

Pein's arguments fail. As the district court accurately observed, Pein has pointed to no statute or precedent supporting his view that there can be no reference to a DPA in a plea agreement. And neither the plea agreement statute

⁵ For the first time on appeal, Pein also raises ancillary arguments related to speedy trial and the statute of limitations. But Pein waived speedy trial, as required by statute, in the pretrial diversion agreement. (App. 1 at 4; Mont Code Ann. § 46-16-130(b) (2015).) And the State did not violate the statute of limitations when it filed an Information in 2016 commencing the prosecution. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 45-1-205(2)(a) (commencement of felony prosecution in five years from commission); Mont. Code Ann. § 45-1-205(8) (commencement is when Information is filed.)

nor the diversion statute prohibits such action. *See* Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-12-211 (2015); 46-16-130 (2015). The district court correctly explained that both statutes reference "charges[,]" not whole cases. (App. 4 at 8.)

The plea agreement accurately recounted the resolution of all nine counts, including a brief explanation that the parties agreed to "resolve "Count IV . . . and Count VIII . . . through a [DPA], incorporated here by reference[.]" (App. 2 at 8.) The parties separately filed the DPA for Counts IV and VIII. (App. 1.) The district court rightly ruled that both agreements "are duly executed contracts, both by their own terms and the statutes governing contracts[.]" (App. 4 at 7.) Thus, the district court accurately held there was no improper "mixing" of the plea agreement and the DPA. The conviction on Count VI occurred via the plea agreement. The deferred prosecution of Counts IV and VIII occurred via the DPA.

Far from being unfair, as the district court reasoned, Pein received the substantial benefits of "a deferred imposition of sentence, no imprisonment, and having Counts I, II, III, V, VII, and IX dismissed with prejudice." (App. 4 at 7.) Pein also received via the DPA the benefit of "preclud[ing] the State from pursuing conviction on Counts IV and VIII, which could entail life imprisonment and forfeiture of his real property and residence." (*Id.* at 8.) And Pein "never complained about the benefits he received as a result of both agreements until the petitions to revoke were filed." (*Id.* at 4-5.) Thus, Pein's undeveloped argument

that his effective sentence (theoretically) could somehow be extended due to his DPA fails. The opposite is true—Pein avoided substantial potential imprisonment from nine counts via the plea agreement and DPA. And Pein does nothing here to counter the voluntary nature of his admissions and his freely given agreement in both the plea agreement and the DPA. (*See* App. 1 at 5; App. 2 at 4.)

All that was required of Pein was to comply with the terms of both agreements. And Pein agreed in both the DPA and the plea agreement to not commit any new offenses. (App. 2 at 10; App. 1 at 4.) Thus, upon committing new offenses and violating both agreements, Pein was subject to revocation of his deferred sentence for Count VI via the plea agreement, and he was subject to resumption of prosecution for Count IV and VIII via the DPA. This is clearly authorized by the DPA statute. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-130(1)(a)(i), (c). Accordingly, even if Pein were correct that there should be no reference to the DPA in the plea agreement, it would have no substantive effect in this matter because his charges were resumed via his violations related to the DPA. Pein cannot prove prejudice.

III. The district court correctly denied Pein's double jeopardy claim.

Pein argues that he was twice held in jeopardy because "the money found in Pein's house" was used "to convict Pein of Count IV and VIII[,]" which Pein claims was also "used to convict Pein for Count VI." (Appellant's Br. at 35.)

Montana Code Annotated § 46-11-503(1) (2015) provides that "[w]hen two or more offenses are known to the prosecutor, are supported by probable cause, and are consummated prior to the original charge and jurisdiction and venue of the offenses lie in a single court, a prosecution is barred if: . . . the former prosecution resulted in a conviction that has not been set aside, reversed, or vacated." Montana Code Annotated § 46-1-202(23) (2015) provides that "same transaction" means conduct consisting of a series of acts or omissions that are motivated by:

- (a) a purpose to accomplish a criminal objection and that are necessary or incidental to the accomplishment of that objective; or
- (b) a common purpose or plan that results in the repeated commission of the same offense or effect upon the same person or the property of the same person.

"Whether two or more offenses arise from the same transaction or involve the same criminal objective does not depend on the elements of the charged offenses, but rather on the defendant's underlying conduct and purpose in engaging in that conduct." *State v. Glass*, 2017 MT 128, ¶ 12, 387 Mont. 471, 395 P.3d 469. For example, this Court rejected a "same transaction" claim where a defendant was already convicted of indecent exposure based on offenses on earlier dates, and then

the defendant was subsequently charged with indecent exposure based on different dates and victims. *State v. Waldrup*, 264 Mont. 456, 459, 872 P.2d 772, 774 (1994) (concluding no double jeopardy error occurred because the defendant's conduct was based on allegations that he exposed himself to different victims on different dates in each charged incident).

Here, for Count IV, the State alleged that Pein distributed marijuana to CI Lunceford on September 24, 2016. In other words, Pein had a motivation through his conduct to actually distribute 19.4 grams of marijuana to Lunceford on that date. But, as to Count VI, Pein's alleged conduct on September 29, 2016, was the possession of 439 grams of marijuana with intent to distribute, but he had not yet distributed the marijuana. Thus, the cash recovered from Pein's home on September 29, 2016, had a clear connection to the September 24, 2016 sale for Count IV, as it was verified by serial numbers to be the same cash used in the same September 24 exchange. The parties and the court were exceedingly careful to isolate and verify the money used for the CI controlled buy on September 24, 2016, as related to Count IV, which only went towards the elements for Count IV, not Pein's prior prosecution for Count VI. And the criminal forfeiture charge in Count VIII concerned Pein's criminal objective to use his home to distribute marijuana, as evidenced through the three controlled buys occurring before September 29, 2016. Accordingly, Pein's argument that the money used in this

matter was part of the "same transaction" for double jeopardy purposes fails because the proof of conduct for distribution is not the same criminal objection as possession. The charges were not part of the "same transaction," particularly in this case because they involved different offenses with different conduct and motivations, but, as in *Waldrup*, they also concerned different dates and different evidence in support of those dates.

For the first time on appeal, Pein also argues his convictions are infirm because the State used evidence from a previously dismissed Count I to support the State's charges in this matter. Since Pein did not properly preserve this issue for appeal by first raising it in the district court, the only possible avenue for this Court to address his argument is under this Court's plain error review. Pein has not asked the Court to invoke the plain error doctrine. Having failed to request plain error review in his opening brief, it is too late for Pein to ask for plain error review in a reply brief. *State v. King*, 2013 MT 139, ¶ 40, 370 Mont. 277, 304 P.3d 1 ("[W]e will not apply the plain error doctrine when it was raised for the first time in a reply brief.").

Moreover, Pein does not sufficiently explain his new challenge relating to Count I, nor does he even endeavor to identify any prejudice. "A defendant urging plain error reversal bears the burden of firmly convincing this Court that (1) the claimed error implicates a fundamental right and (2) failure to review the alleged

error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, leave unsettled the question of the proceedings' fundamental fairness, or compromise the integrity of the judicial process." *State v. Ament*, 2025 MT 97, ¶ 11, ___ Mont. ___, ___ P.3d ___ (internal quotations and citations omitted, collecting cases). Pein's claim is necessarily based on Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-503(1)(b)—the only double jeopardy statute he mentions in his argument—thus the claim fails because Count I did not result "in a conviction that has not been set aside, reversed, or vacated." It is "not this Court's job to conduct legal research on [a party's] behalf, to guess as to his precise position, or to develop legal analysis that may lend support to that position." *State v. Gomez*, 2007 MT 111, ¶ 33, 337 Mont. 219, 158 P.3d 442. This Court should decline to exercise plain error review.

IV. Pein's claim that marijuana should not be a schedule 1 drug fails.

Pein argues for the first time on appeal that marijuana should not be classified as a schedule 1 drug, and his sentence is accordingly illegal. Pein's new argument is contradictory to his concession at trial: "[W]e're absolutely willing to concede that in 2015 marijuana was a dangerous drug or at least classified as such. And then we can have, there is statutory language . . . marijuana is listed as a dangerous drug in 2015 under schedule one." (2/8/24 Tr. at 247.)

In 2016, marijuana was classified as a schedule 1 drug, and it is still classified as a schedule 1 drug today. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 50-32-222(4)(x) (2015), (2025). Nonetheless, the "law in effect at the time of the commission of the crime controls as to the possible sentence." *State v. Thomas*, 2019 MT 155, ¶ 10, 396 Mont. 284, 445 P.3d 777 (citation omitted).

At the time of Pein's offense in 2016, recreational marijuana use was not legal, but the Montana Medical Marijuana Act (MMA) "altered" the "criminal liability" under the criminal provisions for "persons complying with the MMA[.]" State v. Sutton, 2018 MT 143, ¶ 14, 391 Mont. 485, 419 P.3d 1201 (citing codification at Mont. Code Ann. § 50-46-301 through -345); see also Mont. Code Ann. § 50-46-301 (2015). Thus, if Pein were able to show that he met the provisions under the MMA at the time of his offense, and that he cultivated marijuana in authorized amounts and was a registered cardholder, he could have met the altered liability under the MMA, regardless of the drug scheduling as part of the criminal offense scheme. But Pein did not possess a valid medical marijuana card at the time of the police investigation against him to preclude his criminal liability for marijuana distribution. (3/22/18 Tr. at 32-33.) And nothing in the MMA allows unauthorized and unsanctioned distribution of marijuana without a valid state license to do so. Pein's additional argument that this Court should usurp the Board of Pharmacy's authority in Scheduling dangerous drugs

based on marijuana becoming recreationally legal in 2021 has no bearing on the legality of Pein's sentence based on his conduct in 2016. Pein's arguments fail.

V. Pein's facial challenge to the forfeiture statute fails.

A. The facial challenge does not establish under all circumstances that the forfeiture statute is facially unconstitutional.

Pein argues that Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-206(1) violates the Eighth Amendment and Montana's constitution. Pein abandons his as-applied challenge raised below, and instead repeatedly clarifies he is *solely* mounting a facial challenge to the forfeiture statute—for the first time on appeal. *See* Appellant's Br. at 6 ("Statement of Issues"); *id.* at 9 ("forfeiture requirement is facially unconstitutional"); *id.* at 44 ("This Court should find Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-206(1) facially unconstitutional"). He relies on *Gibbons* and *State v*. *Yang*, 2019 MT 266, ¶ 18, 397 Mont. 486, 452 P.3d 897.

The prohibition against excessive fines is fully applicable to the States, *Timbs*, 586 U.S. at 149-50, and covers two types of forfeitures: in rem forfeitures and in personam forfeitures. *Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. at 333. An in personam forfeiture is a forfeiture that is used to punish an individual for committing a criminal offense. *Id.* at 328, 332. Courts evaluating in personam forfeitures must

determine whether the forfeiture is "grossly disproportional to the gravity of a defendant's offense." *Id.* at 334.

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